
New York State Housing Finance Agency and State of New York Mortgage Agency 
Request for Proposals for SAP Technical and Application Management Services 

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS:  Round 6 dated 07/14/2020 

from 2nd Pre-Bid Conference held on July 10, 2020 

Page 1 of 13 

 

 

 QUESTION 

 

AGENCY RESPONSE 

1 Ams_rfp_final.pdf, Page 6, topic 2.2: 

"The Contractor (AMS Contractor) will 

ensure that the SAP implementation is 

stable and that all business processes and 

functions can be executed error-free".  

 

If before the handoff, SAP is not stable 

and has errors, this erros will be addressed 

by the implementation team (as warranty) 

or the AMS Contractor?  

 

How can the AMS contractor ensure 

correct functionality if the Implementation 

team is doing the hypercare? Is the AMS 

contractor doing a validation for the 

Implementation team last issues? 

 

One of the criteria for the hand off is a threshold of 

stability and the handoff by the Agency to the AMS 

Contractor will be done in a responsible fashion. 

 

 

 

By design, there will be overlap to ensure the AMS 

contractor can gain insight and visibility to any issues in 

the system.  

2 Ams_rfp_final.pdf, Page 7, topic 4.1: 

Link to certified MWBE's doesn't work 

(error: 403 Forbidden) 

 

On the answers to the first WebEx another 

link was given but it gives the same error. 

 

The Agency web address to MWBE and SDVOB firms 

interested in subcontracting for this AMS contract is 

https://hcr.ny.gov/system/files/documents/2020/07/mwbe-

and-sdvob-subcontractors_200713.pdf . 

 

The web address to NYS’s MWBE directory is: 

https://ny.newnycontracts.com/ . 

 

The web address to address to NYS’s SDVOB directory 

is https://online.ogs.ny.gov/SDVOB/search . 

3 Is necessary to have a secondary contractor 

or the whole AMS service can be handle 

by a single contractor? (A proposal as a 

single contractor without the MWBE's and 

SDVOB's) 

 

 

The proposer is required to meet the RFPs 15% MBE 

goal, 15% WBE goal and 6% SDVOB goal. The 

proposer can only qualify for one of these goals. 

 

If the proposer is a NYS certified MBE, the proposer 

must subcontract with a NYS certified (i) WBE to meet 

the 15% WBE goal and (ii) SDVOB to meet the 6% 

SDVOB goal. 

 

 

 

https://hcr.ny.gov/system/files/documents/2020/07/mwbe-and-sdvob-subcontractors_200713.pdf
https://hcr.ny.gov/system/files/documents/2020/07/mwbe-and-sdvob-subcontractors_200713.pdf
https://ny.newnycontracts.com/
https://online.ogs.ny.gov/SDVOB/search
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If the proposer is a NYS certified WBE, the proposer 

must subcontract with a NYS certified (i) MBE to meet 

the 15% MBE goal and (ii) SDVOB to meet the 6% 

SDVOB goal. 

 

If the proposer is a NYS certified SDVOB, the proposer 

must subcontract with a NYS certified (i) MBE to meet 

the 15% MBE goal and (ii) WBE to meet the 15% WBE 

goal. 

4 KT process is on site or can be remote? 

(covid19 situation and some possible 

traveling bans) 

 

Due to Covid 19 travel restrictions that may prohibit on-

site visits, remote work will be permitted. 

5 Ams_rfp_final.pdf, Page 29, topic 8.4.2: 

"Providing 24 hours by 7 days a week 

operation monitoring services", The AMS 

service will be 24x7 or just the monitoring 

of the system performance (jobs, 

interfaces, and basis related work)? 

 

Performance monitoring will be passive performance 

monitoring that can be achieved through scripting.  

 

On a monthly basis, during the first day of the month, the 

agency has a large disbursement process that needs to be 

executed.  

6 Ams_rfp_final.pdf, Page 29, topic 9.6.1: 

Defined SLA's do not apply to CR's, 

testing for SAP notes or patches or 

executing task in QA or DEV 

environments per customer request? 

 

SLAs do not apply to enhancement work during the 

*development* and *implementation* phases, but they do 

apply once the enhancement is promoted to production 

environments. 

7 Support can be handled remotely? Is 

necessary to have presence in New York 

State? 

 

There is a strong preference to have support as close to 

Eastern (US) time zone as possible.  
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8 All personnel should be USA-based? 

Support personnel can be based on other 

countries (Mexico, Argentina or Asia)? 

 

Monitoring of jobs, interfaces and system 

performance is easier to be done form 

offshore locations, can this task be 

performed in another country? 

 

Support does not need to be US based. However, periodic 

on-site visits are preferred. 

 

 

Monitoring of jobs, interfaces and system performance 

can be done from offshore locations. 

9 Invoicing can be done from another 

country or has to be from a USA 

constituted company? 

 

The proposer must be authorized to do business in the 

State of New York. Invoices must be in English and in 

USD. 

10 In the RFP ServiceNow and SolMan are 

mentioned as the incident recording tools, 

is there a preference for any of the two 

tools? Is there an option for a third tool? If 

is serviceNow does the HCR has the 

licenses for the AMS contractor? 

 

The Agency has licenses for Solution Manager 7.2 

 

 

Service Now is listed as a suggestion. We anticipate a 

conversation between the business teams and the AMS 

contractor to establish the mechanisms for incident 

management and ITSM more generally. 

11 For support over the phone, phone line 

number has to be a USA number or can it 

be an international number? 

 

Support lines must have a local number so that the agency 

does not incur any additional costs. 

12 Incidents related to SAP core functionality 

have to be reported as OSS Notes for SAP 

to address, this will be done by the HCR 

IT department or by the AMS contractor? 

 

AMS contractor. 
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13 Can we partner with certified firms and 

present their skills? What is the chances of 

willing the opportunity in such cases? 

 

The proposer must have the SAP certifications. The 

subcontractors must fulfill targets for the contract.  

14 We have received our MBE renewal 

extension certificate as of now. Can we 

qualify for response? 

 

If the firm is certified by ESD, then the firm qualifies. 

15 If the Prime Holds an MBE in State of 

NY. Do we still need to add another MBE 

Partner 

No. 

16 LAUNCHTECH is certified as an MBE, 

WBE, and SDVOB certifications in NYS 

and NYC. Can you clarify how a company 

that holds all certifications can meet your 

compliance requirements? 

Please refer to the response in question number 3 above. 

17 Left Blank Intentionally Left Blank Intentionally 
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18 Left Blank Intentionally Left Blank Intentionally 

19 Can we add our name to a MWBE list?  Yes, email Lisa.Pagnozzi@nyshcr.org with a request to 

be added to the MWBE & SDVOB Subcontractors’ list 

for this RFP and include a copy of your firm’s ESD 

certification or a copy of the letter from ESD indicating 

that the firm is certified.  

20 Do you have list of prime contractor 

contacts for subs to contact? 

No. 

21 Will MBE certification from NMSDC be 

considered valid MBE? 

No, the certification must be a NYS certified from ESD. 

22 When do you expect to bring functional 

consultants onsite with covid still 

persisting? Is it ok to wait to bring 

consultants onsite after covid restrictions 

fully lifted? 

Functional consultants will work offsite until the Agency 

determines it safe to have specific staff capacity in our 

office. 

 

The Agency will determine when consultants can be and 

will be onsite. 

mailto:Lisa.Pagnozzi@nyshcr.org
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23 A quick question regarding certification: 

We have a WBE certification, if we want 

to add one sub do they have to get 

certification from the state of NY or any 

other state certification works? 

NYS certification is required.  Please refer to the response 

in question number 3 above. 

24 From - i4 Now Solutions (Bala Murthy) 

MBE - Pls confirm the entire operations 

and support model can be operated as a 

offshore model.  

Functional consultants will be required to be onsite after 

COVID 19 restrictions are relaxed and at the Agency’s 

discretion. Technical staff can be offshore but must work 

during the Agency’s office business hours.  

25 We applied for our MBE certification 

renewal. It is pending at MBE office. Can 

we respond to this RFP?   

The certification must be valid by the deadline date for 

submission of proposals. 

26 Our firm is a NYS and NYC MBE 

Certified Company. We would like to 

partner as a Sub-Contractor.  

Please refer to the response in question number 19 above. 

27 How many vendors is the Agency looking 

to award for the contract resulting from 

this RFP process? 

One. 
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28 How can subs contact the interested prime 

vendors instead of waiting for the prime to 

contact subs? Do you have interested 

parties of prime list? 

Please refer to the response in question number 20 above. 

29 Does an MWBE/SDVOB need to be a 

junior partner? If not, what type of 

documentation or commitment should we 

take from them? 

No, the NYS certified MWBE/SDVOB can be the prime 

proposer.   A copy of NYS certification is satisfactory 

documentation. 

30 We are bidding as a Prime and our MBE 

expired this March and we applied for a 

renewal. Do we have a good chance to get 

that approval before this Project starts?   

Please refer to response in question number 25 above.  

31 What type of commitment or 

documentation is required from 

mwbe/sdvob to be included in the 

response? 

Please refer to response in question number 29 above. 

32 As I understand, if a prime vendor is a 

MWBE vendor that is seeking a 

subcontracting vendor that is also MWBE. 

That does not help with the evaluation 

section. Is my understanding is correct? 

Please refer to response in question number 3 above. 
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33 It is not clear if this solicitation is also 

seeking for vendors to host the 

software/hardware that are asked to be 

installed. Can you clarify this area? 

We are not seeking support for the hosting.  Hosting is 

provided by AWS. 

34 What's the team structure that you are 

looking for to support HCR? I mean 

number of people you need per subject. 

We are looking for significant support in the following 

modules: 

• Loans 

• Treasury  

• Risk management  

• FICO 

35 In RFP document, it is clear if L1 Support 

will be done by SME or by AMS partner. 

In Monthly cost sheet, there is no option to 

account for resources for L1 support 

helpdesk personnel 

The L1 support should eventually be transitioned to the 

agency. The cost sheet should have an entry for L1 

support.  

 

The assumption should be included in the cost proposal.  

36 If you request an AMS resource to be 

onsite what's the lead time for the request? 

In most cases, the Agency will provide 2 weeks’ notice to 

request a resource or resources be onsite.  

37 Do we get a copy of the webinar 

recording? 

No. The recording will only be for internal use.  
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38 Can we have Perfective maintenance 

(1000 hours) on T&M and AMS support 

on fixed price.....is that correct? 

We are asking proposers to complete a rate card. The 

perfective maintenance will be handled as a T&M effort. 

The moment that the solution gets promoted to 

production, then it would become part of the fixed cost 

contract.  

39 There is no SAP certification to provide 

but we have partner id that you could 

verify w/ SAP. is this ok? 

No. The minimum requirement clearly states that an SAP 

certification is needed. 

40 Can MWBE be a Sub-Contractor for 

multiple Prime Vendors while the prime is 

bidding? 

Yes. 

41 Do you have any estimate of when and 

what % onsite resources are needed? 

Onsite assistance should be limited to the functional team. 

The Agency will establish a routine cadence to meet on a 

monthly basis.  

42 Given the preponderance of questions or 

concerns about the MWBE and SDVOB 

participation, will the agency consider 

extending the response deadline beyond 

July 17, 12:00 EDT or should individual 

responding companies specifically request 

for a company specific extension? 

No. 
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43 Left Blank Intentionally Left Blank Intentionally 

44 Is online only bidding OK or do you need 

hard copies? 

All proposals should be submitted electronically in 

accordance with the proposal submission instructions in 

the RFP. No hard copies are to be submitted.  

45 There are a set of SAP certifications listed 

in the RFP for a possible AMS team (RFP 

8.1.2).  Are these certifications optional or 

is there is a minimum that must be met? 

The minimum qualifications listed in section 7.1 are the 

only proposer requirements needed for proposals.  

46 Is it ok to assume that the Agency's IT will 

provide service desk / helpdesk? 

While the Agency has a service/help desk to work on 

hardware support and connectivity issues, Service 

requests and incidents for this project will be managed 

separately by solution managers. The AMS contractor 

will be expected to formulate solutions for service and 

incidents management.  

47 Do you have any estimate of when and 

what % onsite resources are needed 

Please refer to response in question number 41 above.  
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48 Can any notarization required be waived 

for email bidding? 

No.  

49 Do you need an AMS manager full time to 

manage and coordinate support with you? 

Would this add to the cost or HCR would 

handle this role? 

The Agency does not foresee the AMS manager to be 

onsite 100% of the time.  

50 Can we make all our resources available 

on-site once COVID situation becomes 

normal? 

Yes 

51 Is there an incumbent on this contract? The Agency declines to respond to this question.  

52 Why would you not continue with your 

existing implementation partner? 

The Agency is required to competitively procure 

professional services. 
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53 What are the chances for an outsider to 

win if the current partner bids? 

The Agency strives to ensure a fair procurement process 

among all proposers. The incumbent has no advantage 

over other proposers. 

54 Which company or companies are 

providing similar services currently? 

The Agency declines to respond.   

55 Is the current IP compliant with these sub 

goals? 

Yes.   

56 Do you have any must have requirementa 

by resource skills to be onsite other than 

one onsite coordinator specified in RFP? 

There are modules that we must have onsite at least part 

of the time: 

 

• Loans 

• FICO 

• Treasury 

• Risk Management 

57 How long does a FOIA request take with 

your agency? 

The Agency responds within the statutory requirements of 

any FOIA/FOIL requests. 
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-REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY- 

58 How do we account for these onsite 

presence in monthly costs, if we do not 

have more specifics? To calculate travel 

costs like number of visits per month or 

quarter, number of days onsite? 

The Agency is looking for these costs to be presented 

through the proposal.  
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Questions and Answers – Round 5 

 
Request for Proposals (“RFP”) for  

SAP Technical and Application Management Services 
 

Issued:  July 2, 2020 
 

 

1. The information provided represents HCR’s current SAP landscapes.  

Table 1: Vendor Representation of HCR Current SAP Landscape 

Application Number of Systems Description 

S/4 5 DEV, QA1, TRN, PRD& DR 

HANA DB 10 DEV, QA1, TRN,PRD & DR 

SRM 4 DEV, QA1, TRN,PRD & DR 

BW 6 DEV, QA1, QA2, TRN PRD & DR 

BOBJ 6 DEV, QA1, QA2, TRN,PRD & DR 

Fiori 5 DEV, QA1, TRN,PRD & DR 

PO 5 DEV, QA1, TRN, PRD & DR 

Portal 5 DEV, QA1, TRN,PRD & DR 

Solution Manager 2 DEV & PRD 

 

2. In regard to non-SAP systems, as mentioned in 8.1.1 item three (page 11), number seven 
in the table on page 18, and in the last paragraph of 8.4.2 on page 30, which database 
vendor(s) (release and version) is/are in use for the non-S/4 and non-SAP based 
systems? 
 
 All SAP Systems use HANA 2.0 as a database. 
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3. As stated in 9.5.1.1 on page 40, HCR uses Amazon Web Services for its DR site. Please define 
which provider(s) currently host your SAP landscapes (e.g., AWS, Google Cloud, Microsoft, 
SAP, or other).  

 

AWS (Amazon Web Services).  
 

4. Regarding the Estimated Ticket Volumes in 9.3.1 page 35, please also provide a breakdown of 
the estimated volume of tickets per system, e.g., SRM, CLM, TRM, etc. 

 

The SAP system is a new implementation; there aren’t any operational ticket number statistics. 
 

5. According to Table 4 in 9.3.4 of the RFP, the S/4HANA (1610) Total User Base is 250; however, 
in Table 5, the Total User Base by System totals 310. What is the total number of base users 
vendors should consider for their response (i.e., should we consider the combined total of 560)?  
 

 There are no more than 300 SAP users total. 
 

6. Relative to service requests (9.6 beginning on page 40), will a ticket be generated for all service 
requests (enhancements, incidents, etc.)? If not, please clearly delineate between which 
support services tickets are generated and for which they are not.  

 

All requests should generate tickets so that they can be tracked for approval, completion and 
audits. 

 

7. Relative to Service Levels (9.6 beginning on page 40), please confirm HCR expects vendors to 
define Service Levels (severity levels) and associated timing. 

 

This should be a joint effort between the AMS team and HCR. HCR has provided guidelines 
in the RFP to propose service levels.  

 

8. In general, to the requirements, and also relative to the discussion of Service Plan Creation in 
8.3.2.1, please provide a process for, and workflow clarity, regarding the following SAP 
Applications:  

a) Security notes 
b) Kernel upgrade/ Support pack patches update (minor) 
c) Support pack stack upgrade (major) / DB upgrade (major) 
d) Netweaver/S4 version upgrade (major) 
e) Configuration change to existing setup in Solution manager / Adding up new systems 

in SAP CHARM  
f) PO - New channels to be added / Network routes for them 
g) Operating system upgrade - Automated / Manual / Frequency of update  
h) Client copies and System Refreshes  

 
Some processes will be revised as part of the knowledge transfer from the implementation team. New 
process may be created as part of a joint effort between HCR and the vendor.  
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9. In reference to the requirements relative to Transport Management (9 in the table on page 18, 
9.4.1.1.c on page 38, and 13.h on page 47), please indicate the volume of transports that flow 
across each system landscape, including the business process workflow, the approval process 
workflow, and the emergency transport workflow, for all changes via CHARM.  

 

The SAP system is a new implementation. There aren’t any operational ticket number statistics 
 

10. In reference to the requirements for maintaining SAP user accounts, etc., please confirm the 

vendor will administer the standard SAP administrative users associated with client 000. Also, 

please clarify if the vendor will be expected to assume the responsibility of maintaining the 

business user IDs and authorizations for each SAP client or if those responsibilities will be 

maintained by HCR.  

The documentation, maintenance, assignment, creation, troubleshooting, modification of roles 
and users are expected tasks from the vendor. Support of Client 000 is negligible, the number 
of users in that client (should) never exceed 5 technical or emergency support users. 
 

11. As mentioned in number eight in the table on page 18 (section 8.2), HCR is currently 
using Basis, Linux, and Security Roles Management as your operating system and 
security for your end-to-end business processes. Please clarify if the vendor is 
expected to provide support for the Linux OS, including OS user management and 
administration.  
 
The SAP Systems use RedHat 7.5, therefore the application of critical patches, HCR expects 
the vendor to provide support for any SAP-related upgrades to the operating system (OS).  
 

12. Relative to SLA Service Management in general, and as discussed in 9.4.1 beginning on 
page 38, please confirm HCR will be responsible for setting the parameter for tracking 
changes, etc. relating to Change/Incident and Problem Manager documentations and 
procedures for ITSM in Solution Manager. 
 
Parameters for tracking change and similar efforts will be a joint effort. The creation and 
configuration of a tracking system within the ITSM in Solution Manager is one choice which 
needs assessment. 

 
13. Relative to 9.5.1 beginning on page 40, please confirm HCR will maintain responsibility 

for the Business Continuity Plan. Please also describe the role you see the vendor 
playing in supporting the development, planning, and testing of HCR's Business 
Continuity Plan and audits.  

 
The Business Continuity Plan is a joint effort which will be revised with the business as needed. 
The SAP Systems have a current disaster recovery site configured in AWS; the vendor should 
support this system and if appropriate suggest improvements to the existing process. 
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14. Please confirm the selected vendor will be able to provide L1 support and describe the 

vendor's role in servicing end-user requests, such as password resets, etc. (8.4.2 

Corrective Maintenance, number five, page 28).  

Wherever possible the vendor should suggest the configuration of automated processes and 
provide workarounds to guarantee business stability while configurations are being 
implemented. The vendor will provide L1 support, including service requests and password 
resets, but should aim to transition this work to the existing HCR Help Desk as part of 
stabilization phase activities. 
 

15. Please confirm L2 support is only required during business operating hours (0830-1730 
New York) (8.4.2 Corrective Maintenance, number five, page 28).  
 
There may be days and weekends in which the business works beyond working hours of 
8:30am to 5:30pm Eastern Time. HCR expects standby support. HCR and the vendor will 
create a schedule jointly.  
 

16. Relative to Evaluations, section 15, page 56, please provide the weighting breakdown 
to be used in your evaluation of vendor proposals, especially in regard to MWBE/SDVOB 
and New York office locations. 
 
HCR will not provide the weighting breakdown. However, meeting the MWBE and SDVOB 
participation goals is a requirement of the RFP. All New York State agencies, including HCR, 
prefer businesses with a New York location, but it is not mandatory. 
 

17. Relative to 13.3.c, Cost Proposal; we understand one SAP technician is required onsite; 
additional personnel will also be expected to be onsite as required by New York. Please 
define the required days per month and number of consultants required to be onsite per 
month. 
 
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, HCR expects vendors to work remotely—within the  Eastern 
Time zone—for the foreseeable future. 

 
18. In 14.d (page 49), there is a cross reference provide for 8.4.1.d; however, there is no 

such subsection. Please provide the correct cross reference. 
 
The correct reference is to Section 8.4.4 of the RFP (“Perfective Maintenance and Continuous 
Improvement”). See attached Addendum No. 5 reflecting this change. 
 

19. In the Cost Proposal spreadsheet there is a tab for Assumptions. Please confirm this 
tab is to be used for commercial relative assumptions and that vendors may insert 
assumptions relative to each tab at the end of that specific section (tab) of their 
response. 
 
The Proposer may include any assumptions that were used to determine the costs presented 
in its Cost Proposal. 
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20. In 14.a (page 48), Corrective Maintenance, there is a cross reference to 8.4.a provided; 
however, there is no such subsection. Please provide the correct cross reference.  
 
The correct cross reference is to subsection 8.4.2 (“Corrective Maintenance”).  See attached 
Addendum No. 5 reflecting this change. 

 
21.  How is the L1 Helpdesk planned including the triaging of the incidents? Will this be 

managed by client or is the Contractor expected to resource support to triage support 
for L1 tickets? 

 
All triage should be managed by the vendor, the information gathered initially will be used for 
a joint effort to design the support workflow processes. 

 
22. Are we expected to estimate the resource staffing based on the expected volume of 

incidents and change requests? 
 

Initially this will be joint effort between vendors and HCR as statistics are gathered.  Ultimately 
HCR expects vendors to estimate resource staffing based on the expected volume of incidents 
and change requests. 

 
23.  Are there any Fiori transactions used for ESS / MSS functionality or these are done 

using Enterprise Portal? 
 

No ESS or MSS functionality is currently configured in an SAP EP. 
 

24.  What are the standard Fiori apps currently in use? 
 

The agency has approximately 700 T-codes accessed via Webgui Fiori Tiles, less than 10 web dynpro 
apps, about 65 Fiori standard apps for Hire to Retire, Procure to Pay, Offer to Cash, Cash to Invest, 
and Plan to Report. The Fiori app is connected to S/4H, SRM and BOBJ. 

 
25.  What are the custom Fiori apps being implemented? 
 

HCR doesn’t have any custom Fiori Tiles, only Fiori pointers to T-Codes accessed via the 
WebGui. 

 
26.  Are costs based on calendar year and prorated for 1st year (2020)? 
  
 Yes, costs are based on a calendar year (starting January 1) and will be prorated for 2020. 
 
27.  We are currently certified by NY & NJ MSDC and in process of certification for MWBE 

certificate, but it has been delayed due to Covid 19. Do we need to still subcontract with 
an ESD-certified MBE/MWBE? 

 
New York State requires certification through Empire State Develop (ESD). HCR encourages 
partnership opportunities between majority firms and MWBEs as well as joint partnerships 
between MWBE firms. 
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28.  We are currently certified by NY & NJ MSDC and in process of certification for MWBE 
certificate but it has been delayed due to Covid 19. If we submit an MBE/MWBE waiver, 
could it be denied in whole or partially? 

 
All waiver requests are reviewed and a final decision based on the justification provided is 
made by the New York State Executive Chamber (Office of the Governor of New York State). 
 

 
29.  Page 18, Section 8.2 states: “HCR implemented SAP S/4HANA (1610) and has 229 

customizations (workflows, interfaces, enhancements, or forms) and 112 reports to 
maintain.”  Since we were not involved in the development of the functional and 
technical specifications, and would have difficulty creating any fixed fee to project 
without knowing more we pose the following questions: 

 
a) Could HCR provide us with the functional and technical specifications so we 

understand what needs to be supported? 
 
 Due to confidentiality matters, the Agency is unable to provide this information. 
 

b) Has HCR signed off on the functional and technical specifications – so this can 
be used as the baseline for determining defects? 
 
 Due to confidentiality matters, the Agency is unable to provide this information. 

 
30.  Section 11.1 states: “If the file is large, it may be submitted in multiple email 

attachments.” 
 

c) Could HCR provide us the actual file size limit for emails? 
 

 The limit is 35 Megabytes total, including the message and any attachments. 
 

31. On item 4.1 Minority and/or Women Owned Business Enterprise Participation, page 7, 
there is a link to certified MWBEs, but it´s not opening for us.  
 
The NYS MWBE Directory can be accessed at the following web address: 
https://ny.newnycontracts.com/  
 

32. Item 7.1 Minimum Qualifications, page 11, you say: “At least five (5) years of expertise 
in the design, implementation, integration, project management, daily maintenance and 
functional and technical operational support of S/4 HANA systems version 1610 or 
higher including its deployment in a cloud hosting environment such as Amazon Web 
Services, Google Cloud or Microsoft Azure in a Linux environment; “ S/4HANA version 
1610 was launched on November, 2016, so it’s impossible to bring companies with 5 
years’ experience. Can you review this? 
 
Please refer to Addendum No. 5 which contains re-stated Minimum Qualifications. 

 

https://ny.newnycontracts.com/
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33. What is current Agency’s internal project methodology? 

 
Modified Waterfall Methodology, but we are open to other methods.  

 
34. Can you share which is the implementation company (provider)? Is it possible to use 

some of these resources for our RFP? 
 
HCR will not disclose this information. 

 

35. If some of the proposed team members presented in the proposal response are not 
SAP certified, but meet all other qualifications, will those that are not SAP certified be 
disqualified? 
 
While HCR prefers SAP-certified team members, we will consider team members’ whole 
experience. 
 

36. Will points be deducted from our proposal response for any non-certified team 
members? 
 
The Agency prefers not to disclose the allocation of points. 
 

37. What is the state of the current documentation (Good, Average, Bad)? 
 
State of documentation varies from fair to excellent. 
 

38. How is the current Application knowledge repository maintained?  
 
HCR uses SharePoint as a repository and partly using Solution manager. We are aiming to 
use SAP Solution Manager. 
 

39. How is monitoring being done currently?  
 

Monitoring is currently being done via Solution Manager 7.2 
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40. What is the current SAP landscape at HFA? Enhancement Pack upgrades done?  
Please provide landscape diagram along with integration details with other systems.  
Please also provide details of DEV, QA, and PROD system as well.  
 

System Version 

 

Support Pack 

S/4 HANA 1610  FPS04 

SRM SRM 7.0 EhP4 SP21 

Fiori 

Fiori Frontend Server 

3.0 

SP3 

BW SAP NetWeaver 7.5 SP11 

Process Orch. SAP NetWeaver 7.5 SP12 

System Version 

 

Support Pack 

SAP BI Platform BI 4.2 SP7 

Tomcat for BI 

 

Apache Tomcat/8.5.32 

Solution 

Manager Solution Manager 7.2 

SP7 

Web Dispatcher 

SAP WebDispatcher 

7.53 

SP217 

Enterprise Portal SAP NetWeaver 7.5 SP12 

HANA Database HANA 2.0  SPS 04 Revision 45 

OS - RedHat RHEL 7.5 RHEL 7.5 

 

41. While we look to optimize our Onsite-Offshore mix, other key factors also include 
customer preferences.  Can you please elaborate your preferences in the Onsite-
Offshore mix model (More Offshore etc.)? 
 
NYSCHR prefers team members to be on the same time zone as New York State (Eastern 
Time) or close to it. 
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42. What is your AMS road map? 
 
The assessment for the upgrade of S/4HANA to 1909, data structure assessment, and 
consideration of SAP Cloud applications (SaaS) that would improve processes. 
 

43. What is your transformation road map? 
 
 Each functional area will have a roadmap created jointly between HCR and the vendor. 
 

44. How many hours of minor enhancement effort on monthly or yearly basis? 
 
 The SAP system is new, this data doesn’t exist yet. 
 

45. Please provide the interface details with all external systems.  Or systems used for 
interacting with third parties as per RFP. 
 
HCR uses SAP’s Process Integration, Prolink, ADP and Emphasys. 
 

46. Are there any challenges or pain points you are facing with incumbent SAP 
implementation team? 
 
HCR seeks a fully configured solution manager system with all available tools to meet our 
challenges. 
 

47. Would the contract be awarded to multiple contractors considering the criteria listed 
for MWBE’s and SDVOB in section 4 of the RFP. 
 
The contract will be awarded to one general contractor who will be required to subcontract 
15% of total contract expenditures to a MBE, 15% of total contract expenditures to a NYS 
certified WBE, and 6% of total contract expenditures to a NYS certified SDVOB. 
 

48. Please provide details on extend of customization and deviation from standard SAP 
functionality for each module/submodule that is in scope of support? 
 
All major modifications to standard SAP functionality were performed using SAP approved 
methods such as Badi’s, Enhancement Spots, BOR, BDT (Business Data Toolset), and user-
exits. 
 
Other functionality enhancements ABAP were coded using BAPIs, BDCs, Function modules 
and Classes. 
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The details of RICEFW objects are given below: 

 

Custom ABAP Development   

Functionality Enhancements 69 

Forms 17 

Workflow 8 

Inbound Interface 14 

Outbound Interface 13 

ABAP Reports 3 

Grand Total 124 

  

ABAP Complexity Object Count 

Very High 4 

High 26 

Medium 63 

Low 31 

Grand Total 124 

  

BOBJ Webi Reports   

Webi Reports 111 

 
 

49. Please confirm if any specific roles/module consultants are required to be onsite. 
 
For the foreseeable future, no one will be required onsite. When offices reopen to vendors, 
we expect CML, TRM, and FICO consultants to be onsite. 
 

50. Is there any ratio expected for onshore and offshore presence? 
 
The agency is open to cost-effective models without a specific ratio in mind. 
 

51. What functionalities are currently implemented and used in SolMan (Solution 
Manager)? 
 
HCR is aiming to use Business Process Monitoriing and Testing Automation. Currently we 
are using ITSM, Monitoring and ChARM which need to be revised and updated. 
 

52. How many company codes are present in the system? 
 
Two: 1000 and 2000. 
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53. Please comment on the availability of the following documents: 
 
a) Business Blueprint or Business Process Documents 

 

b) Unit, Integration and User Acceptance test scripts 
c) User manuals and Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) 
d) Functional and Technical specifications for custom developments 
e) Security roles documentation 
f) Training documents 

 
HCR is not currently sharing these documents but may at a later state of the procurement 
process. 
 

54. Are there any expected significant increase/decrease in SAP user base during the next 
2-3 years?  If yes, please provide details. 

 

No. 
 

55. During the transition phase 24*7 support is required or only 8 hours support is 
required? 
 
Eight hours with possible extended periods. 
 

56. Can we assume that Transition will be carried out only from offshore considering 
COVID scenario or should we consider transition from any other locations?  If multi-
locations, please specify the services carried out in different locations. 
 
Functional resources must be provided onshore or near-shore.   
 

57. Should we consider Housing Trust Fund Corporation (“HTFC”) out of scope of current 
AMS engagement? 
 
HTFC is not in scope for the initial engagement. 
 

58. Can you please provide your estimated support team size? 
 
AMS and approximately a 15-person team. 
 

59. Please confirm if you have any preference for the location for onsite resources. 
 
No location preference for the foreseeable future, but we prefer team members to be in for 
close to the same time zone as New York State (Eastern Time). 
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60. Please confirm the support team requirements:  Number of resources required for each 
module for support. 
 
Refer to the RFP. 
 

61. What are the functionalities that have been implemented in Hire to Retire (HCM)? 
   

• Organization management  

• Time management 

• Recruitment 

• Travel management 

• Personnel Administration 

• Training and Event management 
 
Please elaborate. 
 

Organization management. Travel management. Personnel Administration.  

62. Could you provide number of legal entities/company codes in scope. (PTR) 
 
 Two company codes and five segments. 

63. Asset Accounting has not been mentioned in scope.  Please confirm.  (PTR) 
 
Confirmed. This is not in scope. 

64. Can you provide BPML (Business Process Master List) (PTR)? 
 
The BPML has been posted to the Agency’s website for your review.   

65. Is central finance in scope?  It is mentioned in Preferred Qualifications for Staff. (PTR) 
 
No. 

66. What are the different scenarios used under CML? Can you provide BPML (Business 
Process Master List)?  (Offer to Cash for Loans) 
 

• Mortgage loans 

• Borrower’s notes 

• Policy Loans 

• General Loans 

• Consumer Loans 

• Instalment Loans 
 

Mortgage loans. 
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67. Could you elaborate on the functionalities implemented as part of Financial Collateral 
management?  Can you provide BPML? (Offer to Cash for Debt) 
 
Letters of credit are the only collateral that require management.  See BPML list posted to the 
Agency’s website. 
 

68. Could you elaborate on the functionalities implemented as part of treasury and Risk 
Management? Can you provide BPML? (Cash to Invest) 
 
Refer to the BPML on the Agency’s website. 
 

69. What are the functionalities implemented for Purchasing? Is SAP Warehouse 
Management implemented for inventory?  (PTP - Offer to Cash for Debt) 

• Direct Procurement 

• Indirect Procurement 

• Stock Transfers 

• Asset Transfers 
 

Direct procurement. Indirect procurement. 
 

70. How many BI/BW reports, HANA views are used in the system? 
  
125 BOBJ Reports. 
 

71. What is the version of the BW/BOBJ system? 
 
4.2 SP7. 
 

72. Is BPC in scope?  It is mentioned in Preferred Qualifications for Staff section. 
 

Not yet. 
 

73. What is the process integrator used? 
 
SAP’s PI. 
 

74. Can you provide a landscape diagram of the SAP system and the various components? 
 
See Question #1. 
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75. Has Fiori been implemented?  If so, how many Fiori tiles are activated? 
 
Yes. 
 

76. Are there any customized Fiori tiles?  If so, how many are there? 
 
No. 
 

77. Is the Fiori gateway server an embedded or a Central hub type of deployment? 
 
Fiori Gateway Server. 
 

78. Please give details of other software used in conjunction with SAP. 
 
 See Question #45. 
 

79. Is an external Tax system used like vertex, for example, or are taxes calculated using 
SAP only? 
 
No. 

 

80. Is there any Lockbox functionality implemented? 
 
Yes. 
 

81. Is there any cash application used? 
 
Yes. 

 

82. Is it okay to mention about the relevant and sizable references on S/4 from customers 
outside US as well? Is there a restriction or preference for US – only experience / 
references? 
 
HCR prefers references from the US with a strong preference for references from the public 
sector, mortgage lending, banking, treasury, and capital markets organizations.   
 

83. Are you okay for considering both SAP S/4 and SAP ECC references from large 
engagements in USA? 
 
Yes. 
 

84. Do we need to have the Primary as the Veteran owned for any preferences (or other 
eligible preferenced category), or will preferences be equally applicable if the sub 
vendor has that designation? 
The Proposer must be the minimum qualifications in the RFP. 
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85. Please share details of current SAP environment – App server, DB servers, 2 tier – 3-
tier systems, etc. 
 
See Question #1. 
 

86. What is OS, DB and various Application versions, patch levels? 
 
 See Question #40. 
 

87. Is Helpdesk services (L1 support) provided by Client? (Section 8.4.2.1) 
 
No. 
 

88. Whether Transition can be done from offshore or it will be from onsite only?  What will 
be the location? (page 32) 
 
All work is currently remote considering the COVID-19 pandemic and local stay-in-place 
orders. Preference is for within or close to the same time zone as New York State (Eastern 
Time). 
 

89. Is L3 /L4 support (development) in scope? 
 
Yes. 
 

90. How many eThru applications are to be migrated from WD-JAVA to WD-ABAP? 
(Section 8.4.3) 
 
Short answer: None. Details: We have not developed any WebDynpro Java applications. But 
we have enhanced WebDynpro ABAP application in SAP SRM system. 
 

91. Is entire BO/BI implementation / configuration in scope for AMS or is it already 
implemented and enhancements is in scope? (Section 8.4.3) 
 
HCR has implemented BO/BI; Enhancements are possible. 
 

92. We assume that Solution Manager is already configured and implemented; however, 
additional activities of setting-up ticketing/ monitoring requirements will be in scope 
for AMS.  Please confirm. (Section 9.4.1) 
 
Solution Manager is installed, but HCR is reassessing current configuration and would like to 
expand the use of Solution Manager. 
 

93. Enterprise Portal is not listed in question 50, Round 4 of the Q&As; however, it is listed 
in the RFP.  Is this in scope? 
 
EP is installed, but the user facing system is Fiori. 
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94. Considering that this is a fresh implementation, we would like to work with Strategic 
level objectives (SLOs before firming up the SLAs?  Are you open to this approach? 
 
Yes. 
 

95. Any incident/ problem > 160 hours of efforts be considered projects and out-of-scope 
for AMS?  Please confirm (Diagram says 160 hours where as this section says less 
than 200 hours for L2 support ticket).  (Section 8.4.2) 
 
Projects are within the scope of AMS. Projects are anything requiring more than 160 hours. 
 

96. As per doc, Sept ’20 is Go-Live date.  So, we assume that AMS will start after that.  Is 
that go-live still on schedule? 
 
AMS would start before the go-live date. 
 

97. Are all implementation documents (Blueprint, AS-IS, TO-BE), Requirements 
specifications, Technical specifications, Test Design and Test cases available?  Will it 
be shared as part of transition? 
 
All documents will be shared.  
 

98. Is there any issues/ pain areas with current implementation? 
 
 See question #46. 
 

99. Will onsite resource work from client’s office or service provider’s office? 
 
From the client office at 641 Lexington Ave, New York, NY. The service provider is in the cloud 
 

100. Please share details of any in-flight projects.  Will any new project be part of AMS 
scope? 
  
 Not any at this time.  

 
101. Can the knowledge transfer (KT) start after the stability period?  Considering this is 

Finance related implementation, it may require 1 or 2 cycles of month-closure activities 
so to consider stable environment.  Can we assume that implementation partner will 
provide support for these closures? 
 
 KT would start before go-live. 
 

102. Will transition (from existing implementation partner) duration be 30 days only? 
 
Yes. 
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103. Is Hyper-care duration 30 days only? How long is the implementation partner available 
for support for these closures? 
 
 30 days. 
 

104. Are these 15 resources part of AMS?  Do our estimation include these 15 resources or 
can we do our estimation for AMS separate from the 15 resources? (Section 8.1.2) 

 

Resourcing should be based on a demonstrated support need 

  
105. It is mentioned that 239 customizations are planned to be reduced.  Is it all planned in 

the first year of Application Support or over the years? 
 
The aim is to reduce the number of customizations to only those which prove to be necessary. 
 

106. As part of the 239 Customization reductions, is there a plan to move some of these to 
standard functionality that SAP offers and retire these customizations? 
 
 See #105. 
 

107. Is Enterprise Portal and Webdynpro applications part of the current landscape?  In the 
RFP, EP is listed as part of the applications but mentioned as “Not in Current Use.”  
Please clarify.  Do we need to still plan for its support?  How many developments exists 
on Enterprise Portal? 
 
Yes, there are Webdynpro applications. Fiori is the user facing application. 
 

108. Is the Contractor expected to man the L1 Support desk and also triage incoming 
tickets? 
 
Yes. 
 

109. Does HFA have SAP team to support the applications?  If yes, what would be the role 
of the HFA team? 

 
Supporting the applications will be a joint effort; however, the primary responsibility will fall to 
the AMS vendor. The HFA support team will play a larger role in projects.  
 

110. Should the efforts estimated for the Perfective Tickets be planned as part of the Fixed 
Bid or will these be treated as CR and calculated separately on T&M basis.  Also is the 
expectation that Continuous Improvement be included as part of the Fixed Bid or will 
these be treated on a T&M basis? 
 
Perfective Maintenance will largely fall within the T&M basis if under 160 hours of effort. 
Continuous improvements will aim to stabilize and then shrink the number of customizations 
to only those necessary. 
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111. Is there any tool used for Testing?  Is there any test script automation undertaken?  Are 
Test Scripts and Test cases available for the processes implemented and the objects 
developed? 
 
MicroFocus ALM is the testing tool used during the implementation phase. Script automation 
has not taken place. Test scripts will be refined and matured and should always have 
corresponding data sheets to ensure the raw materials for testing (unit, regression, 
automation). All test scripts and cases will be turned over to the AMS team during transition. 
 

112. Is the contractor expected to submit the Resolution time SLA’s? 
 
Defining SLAs should be regarded as a joint effort per the RFP guidelines provided. See 
Question #94. 
 

113. What are the documentations that will be available for the system to be subsequently 
maintained? 
 
See Question #53. 
 

114. What version of SRM is being used and what functionalities of SRM has been 
implemented? 

 
SRM 7.0 EhP4 SP21. 
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ANDREW M. CUOMO 
Governor 

RUTHANNE VISNAUSKAS 
Commissioner/CEO 

 

 

 
Questions and Answers – Round 4 

 
Request for Proposals (“RFP”) for  

SAP Technical and Application Management Services 
from Pre-Bid Conference held on June 22, 2020 

 
Issued: June 25, 2020 

 

 

1. You are asking bidders to warranty 230 WRICEFs - but the new parties were not 
privy to the design or testing.  Have they all been tested and validated? 

 
They will be all thoroughly tested and validated – functional and technical specifications 
will be part of the transition document for the vendor.  
 

2. Can you elaborate on what you mean by warranty? Is this above and beyond the 
warranty from your implementation partner? 

 
The warranty means that the specific customizations (WRICEFs) will be subject to the 
SLAs in the awarded contract.  
 

3. Is the timeline firm for July 6th? 
 
Yes. 
 

4. What is the timeline anticipated from start to finish? 
 

The Agency anticipates awarding a contract for a five-year term, subject to one-year 
renewals.  
 

5. Does HFA have its own AMS ticketing system? 
 
The Agency is looking to use Solution Manager 7.2 for all SAP ticketing. The Agency’s 
expectation is that the successful proposer will help build the SolMan 7.2 ticketing process 
and any technical dependencies. 
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6. Will this recording be available? 
 

The recording of for this pre-bid conference will not be available. 
 

7. Do you have SMEs for all the related areas in the RFP? 
 

The Agency has its own SME and program managers that the AMS team would be 
expected to interact with.  
 

8. At one point in the RFP you indicated level 1 and 2 should be 24 x 7 but at another 
you indicate service should be available Monday through Friday from 8 am to 6 pm 
with the exception of some technical support which should be extended with longer 
hours and availability on weekends.  Can you please clarify? 
 
The extended hours for longer availability on weekends is meant to address the SLA 
related work. 
 
The Agency requires core support during 8am to 6pm, Monday through Friday. 
 

9. On the response, are you suggesting that you will not be evaluating all firms on the 
same basis, that in fact you will be evaluating firms based on their own particular 
modifications to the RFP? 

 
No. Proposals will be evaluated in accordance with the provisions of Section 15 of the RFP 
titled “Evaluation of Proposals.”  In addition, in accordance with Section 6.1 of the RFP 
titled “Contract,” any proposed deviations in the form of the MSA will be factored into the 
selection process. 
 

10. How comfortable are you to offshore (outside US) consultants supporting? 
 
The Agency will need all resumes submitted for those supporting roles. It is our preference 

to have functional resources who are able to work on-site to meet business owners.  The 

Agency is concerned about poor support due to extreme differences in the time the 

business work and the support is available. The Agency does not work across all US time 

zones; only US EST. 

11. Are there restrictions on nationality and residency working on the AMS? 
 
The Agency will not sponsor staff. Legal work status in the United States is required for 
all on-site staff part on the AMS team. 
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12. The Tab labels change in the RFP. Can you clarify the Tab numbers with their 
associated contents? 
 
Question is not clear.  Please submit clarification of question via email. 

 

13. Can you please elaborate how you have concluded on the proposed ticket numbers 
and effort estimations, since this is a Greenfield implementation? 
 
To clarify, this is a new ERP SAP implementation.  The Agency has some change requests 
(CRs) that it has deferred. Those CR’s represent enhancements to the system. The 
proposed ticket numbers are based on the number of staff and lower/higher level requests 
 

14. On-site support is stated, thus will consideration be made for travel restrictions 
both domestically and internationally? 

 

The rate card should include travel. 
 

15. While this is a 5-year contract, what is the anticipated go live of the initial working 
environment? 
 
The anticipated go live date is Tuesday, September 1, 2020.  

 
16. Will the team be on-site or remote based on current covid-19 restrictions?   

 
The implementation team has been working off-site. However, it is preferred to have on-
site presence after the go live date. This is subject to change based on updated Covid-19 
restrictions.  

 
17. Is the list of priority items weighted? 

 
The list of 27 enhancements will be scored and weighted by the Agency soon. 
 

18. Once we submit the candidates, how long will it take for HFA to make a decision? 
 
This is a fixed cost bid. The proposals are due July 6, 2020 with an expectation to conduct 

interviews the following week. The Agency expects to make a decision during the week of 

July 20, 2020. 

For the timeline, please refer Section 5 of the RFP titled “Calendar of Events and 

Milestones.”  

19. How will service tickets priority be assigned - End User or Central help desk team 
since the SLAs are determined based on the ticket priority? 

 
For incidents, priority will be assessed based on the impact on the business process and 
the criticality of the business process to business operations. 
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20. Is it expected that the implementation of Public Sector Budgeting be included as 
part of the scope of services for AMS? 

 
The initial 230 WRICEFs are part of the scope of services. Any additional customizations 
will be part of a time and materials portion of the contract. SBP will not be part of the initial 
scope and is not factored into the 230 WRICEFs. 

 
21. Due to the Covid situation is there a possibility for remote work? 

 
Yes. However, this is subject to change as Covid-19 restrictions are updated. 

 
22. Page 23 – It appears HFA has its own SDLC, the deliverable is therefore to document 

and update it, not bring our own, correct? 
 
There is nothing preventing the vendor from presenting their own SDLC. 
 

23. Where do we send questions after the Webex? 
 

Questions may be sent, via email, to Lisa G. Pagnozzi at Lisa.Pagnozzi@nyshcr.org and 
Berniesha.Coleman@nyshcr.org through 12PM, EDT, Friday, June 26, 2020. 
 

24. Is the current Systems Integrator able to submit a response? 
 

Yes. 
 

25. Has a technical sizing been done? 
 
Question not clear. Please submit clarification of question via email. 

 
26. What is the size limit for emailed submittals? 

 
If your organization is unable to send all documents in a single email, you may submit the 
proposal through several emails. Typical size limits apply to individual emails: 25 
megabytes. 

 
27. What is the service management tool you are expecting to use? 

 
The Agency anticipates using Manage Engine or Solution Manager 7.2 

 
28. How many candidates can we submit for each skill set? 

 
Five. 
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29. Are the 230 WRICEFs completed and signed off by HFA? 
 
The Agency has signed off.  The 230 WRICEFs are currently in testing. The Agency has 
completed about 45% of the testing. 
 

30. Is there a designated budget for continual improvement projects coming out of the 
AMS contract? 

 
The Agency is not ready to disclose any additional budget for continual improvement 
projects at this moment. 

 
31. At one point of the RFP it is indicated that the total base users are 250 (S/4H 1610) 

and at another point the total base users per systems are 320, should both be 
considered for the grand total? 

 
No. The discrepancy is due to the travel/expense reporting module. The grand total is 250 
in the main part of the system. Travel/expense users are at about 70. 

 
32. Are there defined OLA's with external application teams? 

 
By the time of contract execution, OLA’s with external application teams will be defined. 

 
33. What are estimated transports in a month? 

 
The Agency currently does not have an estimate for monthly transports. 
  

34. How are the current issues or tickets being managed? 
 
The Agency is using a combination of different tools. For example, ALM is used for defect 
management and tickets are managed through change requests. 
 

35. Is the Agency expecting contractors to be certified in their respective modules or is 
it optional? 

 
It is preferred that contractors are certified in their respective modules. 

 
36. Can we use sub-contractors for certain skillset and/or for offshore resources? 

 
Yes. 
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37. Is there a list of Prime Vendors looking for a Certified MBE through NYS empire 
state development? 

 
The Agency has listed on its website the vendors who are interested in partnering with a 
prime vendor and that list can be accessed at 
https://hcr.ny.gov/system/files/documents/2020/06/mwbe-and-sdvob-
subcontractors_200623_2.pdf  

 
38. Are expenses paid during travel? 

 
The rate is inclusive of travel. 

 
39. Can a MWBE that is certified in another state satisfy this RFP's socioeconomic 

MWBE/SDVOB requirements? Or does the company need to be certified through the 
state of New York? 

 
The company needs to be certified through the State of New York.  The list of NYS certified 
MWBEs can be accessed at https://ny.newnycontracts.com/ .  The list of NYS certified 
SDVOBs can be accessed at https://online.ogs.ny.gov/SDVOB/search . 
 

40. Section 11.1 states “The proposal must be bookmarked and divided into five parts: 
(i) Tab One:  Application Cover Sheet,  and Cover Letter and ; (ii) Tab Two: 
Mandatory Minimum Qualifications; (iii) Tab ThreeTwo: Technical Proposal; (iii) Tab 
FourThree: Cost Proposal; (iv) Tab FiveFour:  Administrative Proposal; and (v) Tab 
SixFive: Diversity and SDVOB Proposal.  Proposals must be sent in two emails and 
labeled as follows: (a) one email to include Tabs One and, Two and Three and the 
subject line of the email must be labeled: “2020 Technical AMS Tabs 1 and, 2 and 
3”; and (b) the other email must include Tabs Three, Four, and Five and 6 and the 
subject line of the email must be labeled “2020 Technical AMS Tabs 3, 4, and 5 and 
6”.”  Section 13.3 denotes Cost Proposal as Tab 3.  Could you clarify the Tab 
Numbers and titles so that we submit the proper Tabs together with our two 
separate emails? 
 
First email, with the subject line of the email labeled “2020 Technical AMS Tabs 1 and 2, 
to include the following tabs: 

• Tab One:  Application Cover Sheet, Cover Letter and Mandatory Minimum 
Qualifications 

• Tab Two:  Technical Proposal 
 

Second email, with the subject line of the email labeled “2020 Technical AMS Tabs 3, 4 
and 5, to include the following tabs: 

• Tab Three:  Cost Proposal 

• Tab Four:  Administrative Proposal 

• Tab Five:    Diversity and SDVOB Proposal 
 

https://hcr.ny.gov/system/files/documents/2020/06/mwbe-and-sdvob-subcontractors_200623_2.pdf
https://hcr.ny.gov/system/files/documents/2020/06/mwbe-and-sdvob-subcontractors_200623_2.pdf
https://ny.newnycontracts.com/
https://online.ogs.ny.gov/SDVOB/search
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41. Who is the current implementation partner? 

 
The Agency declines to respond. 

42. Can we revisit the question regarding current resources at the Agency being able 
to be bid/part of this project?  Is that OK or no? 
 
There is nothing that precludes any organization/person who is currently on the project 
from submitting a proposal.  
 

43. Please restate the MBE and WBE percentages. 
 
The MBE participation goal is 15%, the WBE participation goal is 15% and the SDVOB 
participation goal is 6%. 
 

44. How are you currently managing accounting?  Where is data housed?  
 
The Agency has a legacy information technology systems environment largely written in 
FoxPro. 
  

45. Do you have an IT department dedicated to help?   
 
Yes. The IT department is responsible for infrastructure, applications development and 
information security. 
 

46. Are you looking to host a hyperscale?   
 
The current SAP systems are already hosted in AWS EC2 instances and there aren’t any 
immediate plans to change this. 
 

47. What is the Background check process - is it for 7 years or more? Is there any 
specific agency that we have to use to conduct the background check? 

 

If the question refers to the background check conducted in connection with the successful 
proposer of this RFP process, the Agency will conduct the background check. 
 

48. Regarding the five years’ experience for SAP S4 1610 as it was only released on 
October 2016 can this please be re-evaluated? 
 
S/4HANA was indeed released on October 2016, then four years of experience. Note that 
the Agency’s version for S4HANA is 1610 which is three versions behind the most recent 
1909 version. 
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49. Could you please indicate the estimated volume of tickets per system? (SRM, CLM, 
TRM, etc.)? 

 
The anticipated ticket and transport volume is difficult to anticipate. But the business 
processes number around 75, the most complex of which are in the CML, TRM and FI/CO 
modules. 
 

50. Is it possible for NYSHCR to share the current high-level landscape diagram? 
  

The Agency has a three-tier landscape (Dev, QA and Prod): S4/HANA, SRM, BW, BO, PI, 
Solman all accessed via Fiori. Any more detailed information cannot be made public. 

 

51. Can you release your roadmap to understand mid-level resource types for years two 
and onwards? 

 
We will need a constant CML, TRM, FI/CO and (likely) SRM functional presence. The 
Agency’s would also like to integrate an additional HCR agency into its SAP platform. 
Perhaps two important items on the roadmap that could be included are: S4/HANA 
upgrade to 1909 together with an assessment of migrate certain models to the cloud (for 
example BO reporting to SAP Cloud Analytics). Several companies are doing this in what 
is called a “hybrid model.” 
 

52. Can resources working at the client site now be proposed on roles for this contract 
or no? 
 
Nothing prevents a current resource from being proposed as part of the AMS team. 
 

53. Will a list of attendees be made available for teaming? 
 
A list of those attendees who authorized that their names and contact information be made 
public will be posted to the website. 

 

54. Is having an office in NYS a requirement?  
 
No.  
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Questions and Answers – Round 3 
 

Request for Proposals (“RFP”)  
for  

SAP Technical and Application Management Services 
 

Issued: June 25, 2020 
 
 
1. May I know how to receive the recording of the pre-bid conference held on June 

22, 2020 together with Questions and Answers? 
 
 HFA will not be releasing the recording of the pre-bid conference; however, Questions 

and Answers from the pre-bid conference will be posted as another “Round” to these 
Questions and Answers. 

 
2. We would like to get the List of Companies Certified in NYS for minority and 

women -owned business enterprises? 
 
 As indicated in Section 4 of the RFP, the NYS certified MWBE directory can be accessed 

at https://ny.newnycontracts.com/ and NYS certified SDVOB directory can be accessed 
at https://online.ogs.ny.gov/SDVOB/search . 

 
 In addition, contact information for MWBEs and SDVOBs interested in subcontracting 

opportunities for this procurement can be accessed at 
https://hcr.ny.gov/system/files/documents/2020/06/mwbe-and-sdvob-
subcontractors_200623_2.pdf  

 
3. Could you please indicate the estimate volume of tickets per system?  (SRM, CLM, 

TRM, etc.) (Section 9.3.1, Estimated Work Volumes, page 35) 
 
The application is not live, so there are not any ticket statistics. 
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4. At one point of the RFP it is indicated that the total base users are 250 (S/4H 1610) 
and at another point the total base users per systems are 320.  Should both be 
considered for the grand total? (Section 9.3.2, User Base Metrics, page 37) 
 
Some users have access to only some systems. The maximum number of users is not 
expected to exceed 330. 
 

5. All service requests will generate a ticket? (Section 9.3, Delivery Structure, page 36) 
 
Yes, all requests need to be triaged, and if accepted, classified, assigned and 
documented. 
 

6. Do we need to propose SLAs for response times? (Section 9.5, Service Availability, 
page 41) 
 
The RFP has guidelines. 
 

7. Request and provisioning of infrastructure and application assesses – We would 
like to understand about the current infrastructure setup, if is hosted on-premise or 
cloud services?  An overview of the network architecture / firewall and security rules 
in place. (Section 8.3.2.1, Transition Phase, page 21) 
 
The Agency uses Amazon Web Services as an IaaS (Infrastructure as a Service) and is 
subscribed to SAP Enable Now SaaS (Software as a Service) for training and 
documentation. 

 

The Agency can only disclose that it has AWS EC2 instances and a dedicated circuit.  
 

8. Proactive Services for SAP Applications – Can you let know in detail on the 
accomplishment of proactive and recurring services in SAP application landscape 
and its processes?  The RFP indicates clearly what are not covered as part of 
service request.  However, we would like to get clarification on the process and 
workflow to get the following proactive services for SAP operations carried out: 
a) Security notes 
b) Kernel upgrade/ Support pack patches update (minor) 
c) Support pack stack upgrade (major) / DB upgrade (major) 
d) Netweaver/ S4 version upgrade (major) 
e) Configuation change to existing setup in Solution manager / Adding up new  
systems in SAP CHARM 
f) PO - New channels to be added / Network routes for them 
g) Operating system upgrade - Automated / Manual / Frequency of update  
h) Client copies and System Refreshes (Section 8.1.3, AMS Support Requirements, 
page 15) 
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All SAP Operations that guarantee stability of all business functions are not necessarily 
proactive, for example, security and other preventive notes and patches On the other 
hand, upgrades need to first be evaluated for business impact and risk vs. reward ratio. 
These could become proactive projects. 

 

9. Transport Management - We understand charm is configured and is the central tool 
to move transports between different landscape systems. Can you indicate the 
volume of transports that flows across each landscape and the business process 
workflow, the approval process workflow and the emergency transport workflow for 
all changes via CHARM? We understand the scope of SAP Basis support here is to 
manually move the requests via CHARM from QA to PRD and other routes are all 
automated via CHARM workflows.   
 
System Monitoring: Defining and customizing the metrics for system monitoring 
will be part of SAP Basis scope. Adding up new systems for monitoring will also be 
part of SAP Basis scope. Is all this scope covered as part of ongoing operations or 
is be covered as a Change Request? (Section 8.2, HCR’s Implementation of SAP 
S/4HANA, page 19) 
 

CHARM is not fully configured. There is no operation number of transports as the software 
is not live. Adding systems in CHARM is a common Basis task. 
 

10. Security Operations - SAP HANA User administration and security operations will 
be part of SAP Basis scope, which is clear and understood.All SAP systems client 
000 will by default  be under SAP Basis scope which is also understood. We would 
like to have, in detail, the scope and responsibility of security and user management 
for all SAP Netweaver and SAP S/4 HANA mandate clients systems (other than 000)  
and also for SAP PO system Operating system user administration - Scope will be 
covered as part of SAP Basis, if not, who will be the responsible team? (Section 
8.1.2, AMS Support Requirements, page 17) 
 
Security is process/role based - assignment of existing roles, assessment of request to 
change roles, creation of new roles for new processes, troubleshooting of access, 
provision of emergency access, segregation of duties, recertification of access, provision 
off auditing reports, setup and support of single-sign on and other authentication tools. 
 

11. Update documentation about ITSM procedures - Who is the responsible proposer 
for Change / Incident and Problem manager documentation and procedures for 
ITSM in Solution Manager? (Section 8.3.2.3, Operations Phase, page 26) 

 
The RFP has guidelines. 
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12.   Security Policies - a.) Backups, disaster recovery and business continuity 

b.) Regular audits and testing. Segregate roles and responsibilities of SAP Basis 
and AMS scope here in both these security polices will help in calculating our efforts 
if it can be quoted as a separate chargeable CR or if it comes as part of ongoing 
operations support. (Section 8.3.2.5, HFA Information Security Standards, page 27). 
 
The Agency has a backup schedule, a DR site and a suggested method.  These are open 
to be revised, updated and enhanced. There are internal and external audits the Agency 
must comply with. Basis tasks are expected to be part of the ongoing AMS operation 
support. 
 

13.   If L1 support comes under T-Systems support scope?  Helpdesk and L1 support -  
How do they integrate with one another and their respective scope with SAP Basis 
L1/dispatcher support?  This helps us to calculate how much of an effort is required 
from L1 support perspective. (Section 8.4.2, Corrective Maintenance, page 29) 
 
It is expected that the AMS support provides triage and assignment to Basis. 
 

14. Providing 24 hours by 7 days a week operation monitoring services.  Does it mean 
L2 support should be available 24*7 for all systems?  The RFP says operation and 
monitoring services under L2 scope of work as 24*7.  If so, additional resource 
calculation has to be provided from all areas perspective (SAP Basis and AMS)? 
(Section 8.4.2, Corrective Maintenance, page 30) 
 
Monitoring services should be automated. Severe disruptions should trigger alerts to the 
appropriate staff for immediate assessment and communication. The Agency has mostly 
set business hours M-F in only one time zone: EST. (see exceptions in response to 
question 13. below) 
 

15.  Support shall be staffed between 8:30AM – 5:30PM, Easter Standard Time (New 
York).  For production on call support (P1 and P2) during off business hours and 
weekend support, is this covered as part of adaptive maintenance support or is it 
excluded from this part of the RFP? (Section 8.4.3, Adaptive Maintenance, page 31) 
 
Weekend support could be scheduled as there are times in the year where support would  
be expected during Saturdays and Sundays. 
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Questions and Answers – Round 2 
 

Request for Proposals (“RFP”)  
for  

SAP Technical and Application Management Services 
 

Issued: June 22, 2020, revised on June 25, 2020 
 
 
1. Does the primary contractor (proposer) need to be SAP certified? 
 

Yes. 
 
2. Can the main proposer partner with SAP certified company? 
 

The main proposer must be an SAP certified partner.   
 
3. If the partner is certified, does that mean we have to list them as a sub or partner?  
 

The SAP certified partner must be the entity submitting the proposal (i.e., the proposer 
and not the sub).  The Agency will enter into one contract with the entity submitting the 
proposal (i.e., the main proposer and SAP certified partner). 

 
4.    Which staff types are you looking for to come in sooner for 30-day hand off? 
 

FICO, CML and TRM resources.  Solution Manager, Basis, Fiori and Security are a must 

for the initial configuration, verification and transfer of knowledge. 

 
5. Does proposer need to supply all 15 resumes with RFP submission, or just the 

Account Manager resume with the RFP? 
 

All the resumes for staff for the lead roles must be submitted; however, our preference 
is for the submission of all resumes. 
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6. Can staff be H1B associates? 
 

Yes. 
 
7. Can some of the technical staff be out of state or country? 
 

Yes. 
 

8. Will all 15 people need to be on site all together at any point? 
 

Likely not, but the functional resources should at some point. 
 

9. When do you feel this RFP will be awarded, with a start date of 8/1/2020?  
 

The week of July 20th as indicated in Section 5 of the RFP titled “Calendar of Events and 
Milestones.” 

 
10. How much service is going to be needed after handoff of the solution at the 1 year 

mark? 
 

That’s difficult to determine since this is a new ERP greenfield SAP implementation. 
 
11. Is there an extension on the submission date, with QA responses coming back 

June 30, it only leaves 6 days to submit?  
 

No, unfortunately, we are working on a tight timeline. 
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Questions and Answers – Round 1 

 
Request for Proposals (“RFP”)  

for  
SAP Technical and Application Management Services 

 
Issued: June 19, 2020, revised as of June 25, 2020 

 

1. Do you require a Mutual Non-Disclosure Agreement to be signed by Providers 
responding to your RFP? 
 
To submit a response to the RFP, no non-disclosure agreement is required. 
 

2. Please provide the deadline date for the Intent to Bid form to send completed form 
to you.   

  

Pursuant to Section 5 of the RFP, please submit the form prior to the deadline of June 26, 

2020, 12PM, EDT.  

3. I need to set up a brief call to ask a few questions for my records.  
 
The Agency is in a Lobbying Restricted Period in connection with this procurement.  
Questions may be asked at the pre-bid conference, via Web-Ex, on Monday, June 22nd at 
1:00pm, EDT.  For Web-Ex information, please visit the Agency’s website at 
https://hcr.ny.gov/procurement-opportunities .  All other questions must be submitted in 
writing to the designated contacts indicated on page 4 of the RFP on or before the deadline 
indicated in Section 5 of the RFP, titled “Calendar Events and Milestones.”   
 

4. Does the Prime responder need to be certified or can we partner up with a sub that 

is certified?  

 The Prime responder needs to be SAP certified. 
 
 
 
 
 

https://hcr.ny.gov/procurement-opportunities
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5. If we are the prime responder, but not SAP certified, we would bring in a partner/sub 

who is certified.  Does this qualify? 
  

No, the prime responder must be SAP certified.  
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